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THE FATE OF JOHN GORDON
OF DUNDURCUS

MASSACHED AT PATNA, 1763

An extrsordinarily intéresting, though neglipitle
looking, latter appeared fn the issue of the “Aber-
deen Journal" of June 25, 17684, 1t was Irom “an
afficor'' of the 89th Reglment (raised by the Duke
of Gordon In 1758), snd dated from the Kast Indls
man Osterley, off Dartmouth, June 11, 1784 1
amnounced ile stormy passage homs of the 80th
Regiment, and contalned this senfence; —

“You will soon see n particular detall in the
papers of the disturbances which have hap
penod Istaly st Bengal, whers about 30 or 40
gentlomen lipve been basely massacred by the
Nabob, who has boen defested by your troops,
and f taken will meect with o proper reward
for his eroelty. Llent. John Gordom (son to
My Cordon of Dundurcas) wss ope of the
sufferors,*

The “Gentleman‘s Magazine" {vol. 34, p. 540) for
the gmme month had recorded the arrival at some-
what groater length:—

"The purser of the Osterley, Esst Indis ship,
arrived at the East Indls House with the nows
of the saie arrival of that ship In the Downa
from Bengsl, where evaryihing is said st lengih
to bo seitled In tranguility. But at the same
time brings an account of a most barbaroos
masgacre at Patns of our peopls, who wers
pritoners there, 53 of whom they In
cold blood in one night. Cossim Ally Cawn, not
satinflod with this, oontinusd the mnssacre of
every Europesn thsai was In his power. But
the nand of Providencs has besn manilest in
his total defeat. His troops were everywhere



routed, and ke Is now driven, a wretched
exile, Into m country where le must live, while
he doies Uve, In pérpotusl fear of a most tor-
manting death.”

Who' was Joht Oordon? Who was his Isiher?
What was his reglmeni? It setms & skrange irony
ihat be stonld have had o walt 143 years for &
Hitla niche In the templs of (ame; and nt such &
length of tlme one ls ai & grest disadvantage in
discovering his real Identity.

Ho was probably the son of George Gordonm,
Intrd of Filthparty Dundurcus (died 1768), and »
brother of Rév. James Gordon, minisier of Bellle
(dled 1808). The imstinet for soldering ran in the
minister and his son to the extent of hecoming
army chaplalns. It Is quite probable thst he
Duke of Gordom, who prosentod the minisier in
17680 to Bellis, had proviously got a commisston for
John, Bul that in all guves-work, Indeed, but for
this anonymous mnnouncement in the *“Journal,'”
wa would never have known that John Gordon was
elther in the army or at Fatne when tha horrible
magsacre occurred on Ootober 5 and 11, 1763, nine
montha befors the wrrival of the news In England.
His name ocours i Talboys Wheeler's 1litle-known
pamphlet, A Memarandum on t%e Iecosdy iy the
Forelgn Department” (Caloutta, 1885), bul only as
"Liout, Gordon.” So Iar as we can disgover, ihe
UAberdeon Journal” as quoted in almost the only
sutharity lar sttlng that Gordon's nume was Jaoli,
and brie! as the sapnouncement 4s, ono i very
groteful for the molety ol ldentification.

1t 18 quite sstonlshing, however, how 1We is
known about the 1765 massncre st Patna, which
hus Leep quite ovarshadowad by the horror of (he
Hlagk Hole of Caloutis, though that ecurred seven
veary before, and stdl) more By the Muting which
Lroke oul in 1857 ab Dinapmr, the milltary station
attached to Patna, Aws an axample of the fgnoranee
ubout Patuna, IL may be mentloned that Mr 3L G,
Keene, C.1E, In his récent book, “Findustan under
Free I'.w.num." mnkes the e.utmrutmnr atatement
that Dr Fullarten, the only man whe escaped, “'ls
not known to have left any written resord of the
massacre,” and be goes an to show  that  the
mansacre was not & “myth.' As a matier of fag),
however, pot only did Dr Fullarfon presant w
roport to the Couneil, but 11 has aciually been
printed. Hesldes {t, wa Lave bwo obhier aceounts,
The thres accounts may still be seon (In MS) at
the Imdis Ofea:—



). Dr Williamm Follarton’s report @ the
Council as Calestta; down to Oectober 14, and
dated December 19, 1765,

(2). Journal kep: by WIlliam Andarsan, sur-
geon to the army; from June Z3 to October 6.
He was massacrod.

(3} Journal kept by Peter Camphell; from
June 2% to August 16. He slso was massacred.
The three narratives will be found in Appandix

2 of Whealer's “Memorandum.” The book, however,
is 50 rare thai thers s no copy of It In the Indla
Oftes Library por In the Britlsh Museuni. Nor
does it contain the entire avallable data, for two
letters which Burgeon Anderson wrote o John
Dovidson, surgean In Hengal, on August 26 and
Oectober 8, 1783, hava pever been printed ay all
remaining still (o manuseript at the Indis OMoo.
Yet even all thesa doeuments do not go to the
origin of the massscre, which belonged to political
rather than military history, so that the moagre
mention of the massacre in the “Aberdean Journal™
of 1764 was aftor all quite excusable,

The trouble arose, as the troubles of our Empire-
making alwnye will srise, through our interlerence
with the local conditions In the smered name of
civillsation, Im 1761 we replaced the fumous Mir
Jaftiv, Nawab of Murshidabad, by hls son-in-law,
Mir Eassim, who, we Imagined, would prove more
pliabls for our purpose. Eut =o far [rom belng
grateful, he declined to play the puppet or to let
the sirings be pulled by vs, Ha soon et us rea
ithat hs had & will of his own, and that he
cherished dreama of indepondence, He therefore
began to forge a weapon with which to strike.
Retiring from Murshidabad to Monghyr, a strong
position on the Ganges, he began drilling an army
an European modals, relylng much on the advice
of one Wslier Reinhari, the villaln of the plece,
wlis had Joined his army with a battalion of foot.

Reinhart had an extrasordinary history. Hils
origin 1s obscore. Lawls Ferdipand Smith in his
“Sketeh of the Hegnlar Corps formed and com-
manded by Europsans in the service of the Nallve
Princes of India™ {1805), saye (p. 15) that Raeinhart
was a nativa of Balzburg and a butcher by trade.
Bome say he was & Swiks, Mr Boase, In “The
Dictionary of Natiopal Blography,"” says ho cama
from Strasbourg and was originally a carpenter,
Beale in his “"Orlantal Blographical Dietionary,™
followad by Eesense in his “Hindustan onder Frea
Lances,” says he was born in the slectoral province
of Treves about the yesr 1720, He antered the
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French army ss s common soldler, "taking'' so
Benale declares, “for hls mom-de-guerre °Summer,’
which his comrades from his saturnine eomplesion
torned Into ‘Bombre,’ and the Indlans by corrmp-
Mon Into 'Samru’ and ‘Ehammu‘" The fag of
Fraoce had taken him 0 Indis;, whers the grest
struggle for mastery was in progress. But lke
many soldlers of fortune of that paricd, "Sombre
was pol very partigular as 0 whom he fought for.
Bo when the French surrendored in 17506 to the
British st Trichinopaly with Law {the nephew of
Jolid Law, the nolorious Scola Amancler), who pom-
manded the French force, “Sombre™ joined the
British army. But In 1736 hé deserted and refoined
the French, sccompanying Law to Bengal (n the
oapacity of & sergeant. Thon, sceording w Mr 8
€, Hilt's “Major-Gonoral Claud Martin™ (p. 24), he
took part with Cregory Khan, the Armenlsn
goeneral In the service of Mir Exesimn, and was In
» position of some importance when Mir Eassim
fell out with the English.

Wo ouraclves afforded Mir Kassim an sxeellent
apportunity of asserting hls (ndependence, by a
pince of administeative bungling, Mir Kassim
agroed to a convention which was Acoepted by
Vansitlart, the Governor, by which & (ranslt doty
of only @ per comt. should be pald by Enghish
traders, which was far balow the rate exacted
from other merchants. The conventlon was re
pudiated by the Counell, and so Milr Kassim, by
way of retallation, declded to abandon all dutics
whatever. Tn April, 1785, we sont two envoys, Hay
and Amyatt, to treat with Mir Kasslm st Monghyr,
The feellng of revolt, however, was abrond, and
when the Nawab's oMoers fired on an English boat,
the whole country was soon In s biage,

Mir EKassim had ut his digpoeal an army of
40,000 oien {of whom 25,000 had been' tralned on
European linos)=the blggest force that lsid eyer
opposed ne In India, AN we eould pul ap in
opposltion waa an army of from 2500 16 3000 men,
of whom only B80 were Europeans, commanded by
Major Thomas Adams (17302-1784), But despite this
dirparity of numbers, we were so Witle alfratd that
Mr Ellls, on behnlf of the Company, seizod Patna—
now the great emporium of the Ganges hetween
Cawnpare and Caleubta—whers we had established
a "“factory," The “seliure' was eflocted on June
24, Fullarton, however, tells us that for saven days
bafore that, preparstlons of war had been enrried
on with great vigour on both aides Mindlaly
Cawn, who governed fhe.clty. was amployed In
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ropalring the mmparts; clearing the  diteh,
posting troops on ths walls, and doubling the
guards to the westward of the city. The lactory
walls ware lkewise repaired; the ditch was
eleared; and two 24hpoundars were mounted; the
terrace  top of 1the Factory House was all
round fortifed with sand bags: and two Jpoundars
worn mounnted there,

The date lor selzing the lown, June 24, seems
W liave been chosen dellberately as o way of
celebrating the battle of Plassey, where Clive liad
rotted the Hindus ondér Sursjall Dowlall seven
vours before (June 23, 1757), Patna was 10 be the
rous of the Mohammedan power to Bengal, and
though wa “muddied theough' In the long rin,
tho destrable eonsummation was not effected with-
out 0 grost deal of unnecessary sufloring, in which
Lleut, Johin Gordon sscrificed hiy Mle,

Plassey and its glories dazzled the dlarists.
Anderson wrltes on June 23—

YBaelng tho annlversary of the battle of
Plagsey, wo all dined at the Factory, whetr ik
was easy 0 observe by the faces of the gentle«
men thalt somewhat of Imporiance was on iha
enrpel, for our Councll had been sitiing, and
orders wore fssupd out for the guards Lo be
rolleved by bl awkwird moen, anid the enpialns
to meel the commanding ofticer ot Lils quarters
ab elght In the evening. It seecmmg Uhe gentlemen
A e Paetory had advice of Mr  Amyatie
negotintlon at Mongheer belng Lroken off, and o
duy wppointed for his departure; aleo thab o
strong detacliment of horse apnd Sepoys, to ilis
number of 3000 with six guns, wers on thels mareh
0 Patns, wo that s war seemed Inevitsble,
thoy thought It Dest to sirike the frst stroke
by possesning themselves of the eolly of Phatna.
However, they wers willing to wait for cortain
advices from Mr Amyatt*

Campbell starte his sfory in much the same
slrain—

“This day 1 dined &t the Factory with most
of the ofMcdrs In commemoration of the batile
of Plassey, whan I observed Ly the private
conferences of Measrs Ellls and Carstalrs that
tha  publok embiolls whiell lod Been  luug
threptoning appenred to b coming near to a
orisis, which made me take Carsinirs saide and
ik him whether he thought It was safe to siay
fonger In the clty. He told me for that night
I may, bul no longer, and Inviled me out 1o
his garden
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“June 24.-This morming 1 employed
wyself In settiing matiers with wy Banean and
getilng wny things sent out to Capt, Carstalrs's.
1 dined st the Fagtory, whers the gentlemen
kept everything very privite, Arrived at Care
atafr's nbhoul 4 o'clock. Upon enguiry of him
understood that they lntended attacking the
elty to-morrow merning; bt he had Jost ree
colved & ohit from Mr Ellis, wherein he men-
tioned he had recelved intelligence by the Cos-
el Lhat Mr Amyatt had been entertalned by
the Nabobh with a potoh (nautch) and came
homn mightily pleased. Wherefore he thought
thelr Intentions of attsck should be deferred
L1l he hesrd from Mr Amysts himself, which
he expacted thal evening: and should then glve
niin  immediate notioe Betwixt 8 and 8 a
message arrived that he had heard from Mr
Amiyatt and that he had leave of the Nabob to
proceed fto Calentta on the 24th, wherefore he
ordersad the atinck should be made In the
worning. Az they formerly agreed. most of
tho officers supped with Carstairs, and { came
inte e laetory betweenm <leven and twelve
snd found all the gentlemssn making all the
preparstions for the attack.™

June £5.—0Our ammy consisted of 150 European
rank and fle, 40 artillery, snd 2200 Sepoyz. Two
o'tlock Im the moming was the honr appointed for
the attack. Fuollarion then embarked with 23 slck
Europeans In boats and got them safsly up ths
Ganges to ths Faclory ly nina o'cloek In the
morning. He iells tha milltary side of the story
thus: —

“At kall an hour before one (In the morning)
the troops under command of Captain Cametalrs
marched from the cantopments In two divisions,
and Captain Carstairs having sent 50 Sepoys—
25 to sach of the grand roads at 11 the night
uf the 24th Juone to fake everybody that might
pass Hat way 1 the arrival of the troops—
ihey took fifty prisopers, & great many of whom
were Horcarrag [messengers]; by whink meuns
they had mot the lenst intslllgedcn in the elty,
The first divislon commanded by Captain Car
stnirs, comeisted of 150 Eonropeans, Captain
Talby's battallon ol Sepoys, snd five companies
of Captain Wilson's. The seccond division econ-
sisted of 50 Europeans, Captain Turner's bat
tallon of Bepoys, #nd two guns. Tha firat
divislon with the scaling Isdders came down
the great western road: The Eecond cams



11

througli the wwn right down to the west gate,
and thero remainod under cover. The first
diviglon jlanted thelr ladders near the south-
wast Distion of the eity. They mounied and
got In with Uitle opposition and liitla loss.
They marched down along the walls o the
Wesl gate, which they apensd (our guns and
amull arms keaping s oconstant fire from the
Fuctary upar, the eity), and the second division
and guns came i Liedd, Downle, who eom-
manded In the Factory with three companies
of Hepoye, A 1kl after our troops had got
nospersion of the wesh gate, stormed the Bir-
Uinnn gute; got inwith ltile loss; and marched
o tho Jilis [fort], partly by the riverside,
partly by lanes near bhe rlver. Caplaln Talby
with hls batiallon went round the walls and
drave the enemy from them, posing his own
guards as De went, and came to the east pate.
By the time both our divisions had got Into
the olty, Mires Mindialy Cawn, the Governar,
nod intelligence of it and  eollocied & body
ol hoess and gupnmen, and marching down the
maln sirest, e met Captain Carstairs, who witl
Captatn Turper's Fepoys, Ewrmopesns, and guns,
1nad  the street snd  fAlled the lanes and
the topis of the housss of both sides, And A&
warny souflle ensusd with loss on both sidas
Captain Perry and Lisut. M'Dgwell were both
killed; Captaing Jouler and WHson wers
wounded; and 3 Europeans killed and woundsd.
with a number of Sepoys, but our grape and
wnsketry was <o warm that they retlrad, and
Mindislly Cawn with the rest of tha com-
manders went out st the east gate of the eity
and took the road towards Fotwa. Our treops
marelitd o the east pste sfter them and thére
mol Captaln Tabby, who had just arrived, having
coma round the walls, The esst gats was
immediately shut, the bridss leading into It
broken down, and the Sépoys samt along the
kiila waulls down to the river side, and took
possesd®n of the only gata remaining In the
hinds of the enemy, called the water gate,
After this, several meesagos paszed botween
Captaln Carstales and Mr Ellis, and everything
weemed 1o be over. About 9 o'¢lock Captsin
Carrisirs osma o the Factory with saveral of
the oMoora. A& 10 we heard firlng in the kilis,
and the gentlemen went tn the Fort The firing
cantigued and Increased. One Lollea jemadar
of foot, who had lls women In & hounse §n
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the kllla, dld not phuse to leave them, #o
retired inio his house with 30 men, and thare
remained quiet til same of our Bepoys began
to plunder hls house. He then. in delonce of
bis women, drove them oub"™
“There were lkewlze abont 200 men who had
secratnd themselves im w large houss near the
killa eslled Chelsetoon. Lallsd, after having
drlver™the Sepoys from his hougs, fired on the
sontries thal were posied on the walls of the
killa meir his houss, snd senl 3 messago 10
Mindiply Cawn, who with the rest of the prin.
cipal commanders hiad got the lengih of Fatwi
Bridge, that I he could refurn le would be
abls with his assistanco to drive the Engllsh
out of tho city. Mindinly Cawn met al Fatus
with Aleam Cawn, 100 horse and 20 eamels
loaded with fire arrows from Mongheer for his
garrison. Jusi at the time of his receiving
Lollss's message, he {mmpdiately relurned,
and by the way picked up abond 1000 horse
and foot thet were fiying from the city. Al tlie
same time that Lollss sent to Mindlaly Cawn,
B sent likewlse to the Chelsetoon wnd told
those men that were there that he had sull
delended part of the kille and desired thelr
asstsianes.  About 5 of them cnme 1o him by
& smsll pagsage from the Chelsetpon to the
killa, and there thoy defended theniselves till
near 12 o'elock, when Mindialy Cawn arrived
“About thls tims our Bepoys wers employad In
plundering the town, and little order or obadi
ehee o thelr officers was obseryed. Nor eould
o fufficient body o! them be got logether o
make a stand, s that Mindialy Cawn met with
{ittle resistance in driving all our troops out
of the elty. As our peapls went along thsy
met with enemles everywhere. The Bepoys, who
mad concealed thamselves in the different honses
upon hearing of the Nuil's return, sallled out
everywhara and fired on them, so that abont 3
o'elock they nrrived at the mm in the
ntmost confuslon, having last in relseat
Lisnt. Teed of tha artillery, Liout Downle of
the Gepoys killed, and Lient. Parry wounded

no purpose. It was generally imagined ihab
groat part of the Sepoys were gone aff with
what plunder they had gol. snd that

s muster {here were anly sbout 170 Eurapoans

and 1200 Sepoys to be found. The confusion af
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such & numbér of troops with the sick snd
woiilded In s0 small & place as the Factory
must bha easily Unagined, and that evening
aboot sunset the clty was strongly reinforced
by Marcott, with 1500 Sapoys and 2 guns and
some horse. who that night begen to ply us
with muskotry from ihe walls, and cannonading
the Factory from the west gate Mesars
Groentréa and Plokering were called In Ifrom
the cantonménts, where fthey had bean left
with 200 new Sepoys™

Jane 28—A brisk ecannonads was kept wp by
both parties during the whole of this day. In the
evening a council was held to sea how the disarter
of e previous day was to be petrievad. Andérson
aay2 that various alternatives wore proposad:—

“L=The Factory being but small and badly
provided with firesrms and provisions for 1200
Sepoys and 200 Euwropeansi; besides, we must
have #xpocied to be entirely shnt op with the
fresty troops which would hava comes fram Man-
ghear; therefars to defend it was thought o
bé of bo purpose

“2£-To take bosts and procesd by water fo
Calentta; buol in the firsl place boais conld
nos ba procured for sueh o number, and we
must hinve expecied an oppotition st Mongheer,
whers Intelligense must srrive one day before
na

“3.~To erosx the river and march down on
the opposite rlde, This must have been to
saprifice many, se we must have embarked Lo
tha face of o numerous ensmy, wnd who had
doubtiess tmops Teady opposite Mongheer o
meat ux.  Bealder It was Impossible without
bullocks and <oolles 1o have elther guns or
much ammunitlon with us,

"4, ~Therofore the finnl delermination, and In-
deed that hnd most chance of shoooeding, wus
to procare by foree we many boats ss we could;
sond them up to Phytazy Pass, to erss the river
theare witlh our howitzer, march op the Sarosr
Borang oountry, and mo crose over to Sujeh
Dowla's eountry.”

Cnmpball adds that it was “found (mpracticable
to gurry any gune, bul we ecarried a howidt, but
no ahells. The resson of that I don't know; both
which, we exporioncoed afterwarnde, would have been
of the ubmost conssquence to us,  Our treasure
amounted bo protty near a lnek. Thet was shipped
off; but by dome mismanagement one bost that
part of 16 was put o eUnk ne ahe wao setbing ef,
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and with diMeulty savéd. The other was {bo desp
and ran aground, which obliged them to throw
soma of it overboard, g0 that there was deficlent
20,000 rupees 't

The refugees got  separnted, which makes
the narrative dificolr o tell consecitively;
and as we do mot know what party Gordon accom-
panied, It will be necessary to use all {hreo narm.
{ives In telling the story.

Fullarten says that about 12 o'elock he wan
ordored by Ellls to proceed with what boats he
hnd eollected to Palenjal Ghat, nbout six miles up
the river, and thavs to remain for further orders
At 3 In the aftornoon he was prdersd to gt the
boats ready lor transporting the troops over inlo
the Borcheiring dountry s soon ay possible, At
10 at might they wrrived, numbering about 170
Europeans and 1200 Bepoys, with a howitser. Our
troops, on thelr leaving the Factory, set fire 10 the
punge snd wll the targe Betlenutt pungalows near
the Factory, to bhinder the enemy's approsch, and
an ofesr with 30 Bumpeans remaltied In the
Fuolory hall-an-tiour after bhe maln body marched
off, to bring up the yenr with the bagenge, bot the
fire from the olty wad #0 warm that the cooliss
and Iasears threw most jmrd ol fhe ammunit’an
down and desertod, so (st only ssven barrels of
musket ammunitlon was saved, and the Bepoys
nwd Europeans had only twelve vounds [of smmun-
iton] 8 man.

Junes #7.—Tho embarketion (30 bonts being need)
lnsted from three to ten o'clock In dhe morning,
Fullarton's party ineluded Andersor. Lady Hope,
and the wounded. Andersom saye thal spon after
the embarkatlon Capt. Tably's Bapoys were ordersd
to mareh to the ground to the norih of the French
Faotory, end there wait for the Europeans, Mr
Ellls with & company of Seyays from that bods,
attended by some clvillines, made the best of thelr
way to tho boais. Capl. Carsiaied with the Euoro-
peans and Turner's Bepoys kept up n briek fire
tHl near 12 o'clock, and everything belng qulle
rondy, splked ap the gums, ete., and marched out
ard so proeceeded to the bonts withows the least
molestation, “Aboui £ we began to cvoss as qulek
as possible, and without eonfusion, but before n
third were aver It began 1o blow and raln, so that
tha boats could not eross. In the meantime thoes
whi had erossed over were alarmed with a
body of horse rumning to attack them, They beal
to arms, got the howitser ready, and advanced 200 or
300 yards fo Lo elear of the villnge, and po walted
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for them, but they thought proper o keep ot o
distanee."

Pullertan's party a WHitle befors sunset on the
£7th marched From Paleejah to Ryputiee, o distanee
of elght miles;, where the srmy got no proviaions
bt & lttle rice, the conntry peopls belng afrald
to supply themi an seeount of the Phansdar Nider
woi's being in arms bo oppuss the English. Ellis
ordered Fullarton to take chorge of the tressure
with all the baats, and allotted for thetr guard &
eompuny of Eepoys.

June #8.—~Fullarton's bonts, which wore fired st
by Bombre's troops, wers Jolned st thess (o the
afternoon by tha ather boatd, Chirin, whore' they
met, was 10 miles from Hypuldee, which Campbell's
party meached an the 2Tth.

June 23.—The army procesdsd to Agalb Gunje.
Fullaxrton says they were discontented for want of
provinlons the dny before. Thin belug a village of
the Company's, they got same rlee. The bosts wera
In thia morning, before the troops marchod, and
velnforcad by Liout, Armstrang with another ooms
pany of Bepoys  "We hod Dewn thal Nidersm was
comlng o fAght with ns with 3000 horsy knd 5000
foo.'

June 30 —"We marched from Agoib GQunje 1o
Magipoors Bve ocosd (ten nifles). The Yoats eame
ap withdn 4 eoss of tho camp Into the Dewa
rlver, but It was with greal diffoulty, we being
ohllgod to traek, Nideram eame sod was defeated,
with mo loss on onr elde, buot about 200 of his
omon Willed.  This day a bost that fell in the rear
was taken, A havildar wnd elght Bepoys wers in
It Threa of thein wers Eillasd. The resi jolned,
bt without thelr srma,  Nidoram went towards
Chupenlt & fow coss, where ha met  Bhimroeo
[Bamlive’] with thrse battallons of Bepoys and elglit
pleces of ennnon and . lsrge body of horse sont
trom Patnz after na Shimroo made Nidernm rotirn,
but we lnd no intelllgencs of Oem. Our harcarras
had al) desartod, and nene of the country peaple
would come near us,'

July L—"The army came 1o (he banks of the
Dewd, o oosw from whers ey lay ol Maripoor.
The Dewa formed three stronms s this place.
Our bosts got 1nto the middle one, and conld not
pass through for wani &f water, They were hall
3 mlle from the army, and wers ordored down to
the place where the thrae streams met. The army
Hkewisn moved thiy morning, snd, In marching off
the pickat, 100 Sepoys lost thelr way, and had s
warm sonflle with part of Ehimroo's guards. Only
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the subador and 35 Sepoys with the cclonrs got to
us  About # o'clock we were surroundsd by Shim.
roo with thres batialions of Bepoys, elghl jileces
of oannoti, nnd & body of about 10,000 horse and
loot, Widemm Included. Two of Stimroo's batta.
lions bad Europesn arms, snd one country wateh.
locks On thelr approsch. orders wern sent for
the 200 Zepoys (that had been loft to guard the
boats) to joln us. We got the howitt landed and
prépared to recelve then They came within 800
yapds, and begun to cannonade us  Thore was s
nulls about 50 yards n onr fronk, bt lttle wator
in 1t and & small bank In the front of our line,
behind which we wero drawn up, The enemy dfd
nat aeam mwuch indlinable to attack ua, but kapt
up a brisk fire feom thelr arttilery and Jinislls,
About 10 o'clock it was determined that we shouliL
attack them, amd Mr Eills, hoing mnol fatigued
and somewhat out of order, came down o the
boats and orderad somae lquor to be. sent up o
the men. A lttle atter this, Captaln Cavstiles was
mortally wounded [ln the thigh] with a jinjan
ball, and the sammand devolved on Captaln Tahby.
Our people were Dot allowoed to fire on nocount af
the great searcity of smmunition, and the snemy
begun to coms mear and nearer, Lut very slowly.

“Ab three fn the aftornoon & company of flialr
Bepoys came down o the banks of {he nulle, and
luy behind them and kepl & warm fire of musketry
o us, They all after this moved down by degroes
and {ried (o stop the cannon and fire, and then
moved ngaln. Oor troope were wncl latigued for
wanl of provislons, ele, and belng sxphsed 0 a
warm fira all day. Abont half sn Denr siler sun-
sut the firing increiged, and they began to ply us
with omskeiry, crossed the nulle, and atlacked us
on sll sides. About eight at night the Europesns
broks ‘and fled; the Hepoys stood thelr ground,
keeping » warm fite opon the enmny 11 all thelr

] tion was expended, when they MNkewise
gave way, Lleatensnis Plekeriug and Crolis, both
of the Sepoys. were killed, and the rest of the
gentlemen lisd were In the feld wers faken
The boats where Mr Elliz war finding the fim
cense, some of the officers thet ocould swim
crossed the branch of the river (for the boats lay
on sn island), opposiie to where the action was,
poshed off and got into the viver. Messra Eills,
Howitt, and Smith, with Captaln Jouker, thought
proper o write to Nidersm o send some of his
people 10 conduct them to Pstna to Mindlaly
Cawn, end 1t was Ukewise determined that Mr
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¥l shoulldl write o Mindialy Cawn desiring thal
e shorid send orders for conducting him and the
gontiemen safe there. Abont 10 at night [ was sent
with & lotter 1o Mindialy Caws ln a sl dingee,
amil gol down to Pstin abont 12 next morning.”

July 2—*T seiit immadiately to the Nath to let
him know thai I was come. He sent for me and
ased mn very well, sending an pwler o Nidaram
wa eondieel the gentlemen =ado to lilwm, but before
Lhat eould areive, they were all taken by Shineron
that moming about 10, T wae kepl eloss prisanec
In the killa, and at night the XNaib oame and
deslted wme to write n chli 1o sowe gentlemen
that were vome in a badgeta to Hagipore (o eoma
to him, as they might be |Wused by the eountry
people; Which I did.*

July 4 =""They cama fwo days aftar mnd were
sent immediately (o Mongheer; but wers eent
tingk agalo, and kept 1n $he Chelsetoon. They tind
barisd Captain Carstatrs, who died of his wound
in his budgerc. 7These geullemen weore Captaln
Wilson, Idout, Armstrng,  Eusign Mockay. 8r
Anderson, suvgeon, end Mr Petdr Campbell, and
two soldiers.”

Anderson says that on resching the fort at
Patna, whers they were Umught to the Durbar,
they wern kindly tecdlved by All Mindisly Cawn.
who hind  victuals brought 16 jpilenty. “After
giving un bells we were shown te our mpartment
under tho ‘ears of Morzs Calesl, & near relation of
Iyis own, who for the short time we remnined with
Lim A1d his atmost to render overything as agree-
oble ss possible to us, even the most menia] ser-
vices. Ha sent for us o Nis own room and had
same pountry =pivit for u8 to drink: gave orders
w bring up all our thingy and that thére misht
uot Le the least ilpg Luched, We thoughtl our
solves extremaly happy In sosh gentle usage, lor
the Nabob himsslf eame In; sal down with us akb
Moren Caleel's, and told ns he cxpested Mr Kills
Wwith 30 gentlewen end 20 soldiers the mext day
[July 51, for they had set out from Chupperal.
AL 9 we rotiriéd 1o ont aparfments, where Mr
Fullartsn eame sn hour after and acguainted us
that arders had come for sénding us to Mongheer,
and we must go lmmedintaly, This surprised we
much, as 1L was very dirk, snd the stream rapid,
Ik by speaking to oar friend Morzs Caleel I8 wns
put oft (I the morming. Accordingly, early we
gobt a1l ready and had averything semt to the
tudgerow, whare le went Limsolf to ses as snlel
delivered  to (e  jemadar who had charge of
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s, He had send sowe bread and a roasted kid
into the boat for our uee, which we ook very
kind. Captaln Wilson with greast difficulty per-
sunded him o socept bls sword in & compliment.”

July 6.—Anderson's party was sont back to Mon-
ghear, whila Ellls with the rest of the “gentienien’™
arrived at Patns  Fullarton petiticssd the Nabob
1o be allawed to ses Eills, but was gofused,

July B—Ellls witlh the rest of the “gantlymim®
were sant back to Mongheer, and Lhere eonfined.
There wan 45000 of the Company’s cush abourd the
Luigerow where Mr- Ellls was taken, and soneé
plate, which wag given o Lim 16 put in the eare
of soma of the Nabob's people, 1o be glven him
whin he wanted 14, some Uins. 15 remaloed with
Cala Potrtos, afterwards with Mgmodom Cavn,

July 1B —Fullaitan was sent down to Mongheer,
and thers confingd separatoly fom the rest of the
Ugedtlpmen, who were sl well used, (hough
atrletly sonfued  Te liad vigtunls sent regulnrly
by thie Nabob twice o dny,

July 18,=1hé whole party, sent back again fyon
Monghesr, venched Patna ol ten o'slock in e
marning. Campbell saye: —"soon afterwards, Captain
Wilson wag gent for ashors, Abaub 12 we were all
sont for; understosd that (e Govermar was al (s
swest gute. Wa ware received by the Dowan; ware
Rept it @ sort of Durbar place immansely close and
hot; had dinper brought us. The Governor did
not cotma 1ot 8, and soon afterwards he geni for
un; macolved ns vary polltely, and made us under-
gtnnd wo should have eovery indulgence In hls
pownr, He agssured oa Uiat we should have u moch
more airy and retlred apartment than whai we
were in at present, and provided us with the
Dewrn's bungalow for the nlght, whileh Was wvery
cool snd pleassnt. He al the same time peqoatnted
os he balleved the renson of our helng sent np
tre agnin was owing ta the latier he wiole the
Naboh, whsrelti he mentloned to Nlm, H he had
not comvenienee at Monghoor, bw Dagged be wounid
reliarn us w hini*

July 19.<"Early in the morning we Were hioughk
dowg from the bungainw ta our il apartment. But
ar wa were [ honrly expestation of belng removid
16 a proper jlaes allotted for us, we thought
notiting of 1L About 10, fn one end of the room
whete we were @ fire wss lighted, which had
slmosd suffoested us wiih heat and smoke; ii was
to dyees the Dewan's vigtuals, A= bs i 8 geutos
hoe ceftnol dress fn any of Abe Mormsn's cook-
roome. Upon our complaining, they assured os-is
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should ba dond 1o mare. We passed thal day very
disagreeably; were grewmly surprised to find no
arder for bringlng oor things from ke budgere,
nor any olber place sppointed us. The cause Wwe
anderstood o ba the Dewan being affroptad ot
our betug tnld in bis bungalw the last uight. We
2ot o few bottles of wine from Lhe Dutch Factory,
but our guard undersinoding t, insisted opon
calaing them, which théy accordingly dfd to the
grant sortification of sowe of oanr mesamates’

Andernan sayei —="Toe-nlghl wa found it very dis
agrosabla on weconnt of heal, boggs, and & nolyy
guard, who ceenpy the yverundal of ourapartmant™ |
and who consisted of 4 Jamlder, 20 snunwen, wid
two Bepoys with “‘serewaid” bayeners

duly 2N —Campbell writied:—"" . . . Govn packf
anrdé sod amogesd gursslves whil w gamie @b whi-
Muph troubled with fles, sod the tiue Langs v,y
heavy. We are lo lis o the verindn &g bafore.
Anad all aur baggage from the budgernw, and fimd
that our boys have slole I32 mupses; ace afrald lo
daliver (hmd g Wb Justics, upon aocount of our
transacllon Wt Hudjipore; allowed two of them o
B2 wway whom we Judge to ha guilty”

July 22—Andersan  willes; <“About 4 in the
aficinoon we ware called ou o sudden from our
apartment, leaving cwo soldiera. We ware led in to
tha oy, und on onr way met twi  Enmpeans with
& guiard, who told oe there were 15 of them coamo
uj from Mongheer, We wora Iod through several
windings and Lyways to & place whare all sorte
of prisonurs are confined, for aller passing two
compounds we ecatie ta & third whare we ohsorved
somy prisoners in lroms, whick gave os hat an
Indiferont ldea of the place, more especially us
thi apartinsnt wé ware pulb in was. qilte elose,
damp. znd tang with eoliwebse . o . We had not
been herd so hoor beford wi began to be sammwhal
bheiter reconelled to it for all our things were sent
to us very carafully. We found (lils n piace for
State prisoners, and sevaral peoyln of soms con-
saquence have been here ever sines Homnareain's
mizsfortune. Thére are aboot 200 Peons A8 n guard
to this prison, who allow us to walk all the length
Of the square, o that we find e are hers more
mtired and have more U

July 25.—~Campbell wrl'lal--“w- had & very
asgresable night, aod bogin ty lke our prison
much bettar than our formigd Apartments. Passed
the day vory agreeably. Baent out and
vietunls for ourselves Semt In the avening to the
killa 10 know wheihdr we were th expagl enter-



talnment from thenes o not. Were glven to uider:
niand that we must yirovide for oorselves fn every-
thing we wanted, Have vislts from some ol our
fellow prisoners, whon we find te be very sensible
mén, and eéondole with ve [0 our present situs.
Bon.""

July 24 —Campbell  writos:—"Had o plestunt
night, and find ouy uew Labitation gulte vedired
anl kR pgreaable ns we oonld expeet.  Have dm-
ployed tatlore lo make us some banlane shirks, et
Had n leg ol voast mutton and eurey, steaks, etc.,
for dlaper, ind & drought of good conl sherbet o
wash It down. Wa wera o Hitie olormed about &
with our keeper antl his guard, fnking out fouy o
five pale of lrong, thinking they milght be tor our
ueo, 88 Le guve us n emall hint the night before,
in & Joke, how we shonld ke them, but we soon
founid they were only examiniog thew to sae If
oy wers In good orider.”

July 25 =Campbell  wrlbes:="0Our man Nicolo
amuggled tn & hottle of Duteh Dguor, wideh was
yery acooplable. He got dlse fn the evenlng »
Bottle of gin"

July B6—-Andemson  writes: ="Today close and
pultry, which makes the fles veory trdulilesoma to
Gh Had w small keornit of twa bottles of gln,
whieh & two days’ allowsnce, The economy we
have established 15 to drink twlee o day. Dine
al one and take n walk, snd [n the éevenlng ore
adlaep ot 10, Buppar we heve pone. The intervais
ace flled up with reading, gaming. and eohverse
with oor fellow prisoners.'

July 2%—Andoerson wrilesi—""0On eendlng today
for aur victusls the consumah pald be had not his
mugter's orders, by whipgh means we wero dis
appointed of our dinner."

July 30.—Anderson writes: ="To-day we soml our
sarvani to the Nahob to requesi that wa might be
allowed to sénd to (he Duteh for a Uitle liquor
dally, ws enstom hed vendered 10 necessary for
our health: algo that we might have a daily
allowancs In money wather than in victualg, as
It was not dreesed In our way, bolh of which lw
grantad, allowing us four Topees per day wmnd
lberty to bring in two bottles of lquor per day,
Bundsy 31.—Had p case bottle of gin brovght in
with authorily, having procnred a case Irom the
Duteh doctor for 50 rs, mather than give 2 rupoes
& common batile, wileh runs 19 wine glaszes, whey
a case bottle rums 30, bul we And It mueh sdul
tarated, which considering the Jow we bought ft
of is pot surprising.”
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July 3L—Oampbell writes:—“Very beav¥y ya.hs
for thess two days, Our former ccok hns lelt us,
which would have disiressed us much, had It not
beep for Enslgn Mackay, who has & thorough
knowledge in cookery, and has officlated In that
offiee greatly fo our satisfsption for thess twa days.
We have jrovided ourselves with another cook,
and Niloslo ymurchassd n ease of pin from the
Duteh Snoul’s Beraper for 50 rupeas. We purpose
bringing |n two or three bottles sl a tlme ascord-
ing to ocur allowance, as i comes much ohenpet
by belng bought in a quantity. The Enout's
Sersper belng = great Jow, he aiss  sold  two
knjves and forks, snd two cups and waucers for
the #mall price of & rupoes.”

Moantime & strong eftort was Dbelng made by
Major Adams snd hls little arny 0 rescue ihe
prisoners and (afliet o blaw on Mir Kassim. Ad&ms
began his onmpuign on July 2, bub It was not 1l
i monts Inter, August 2, that he was able to strike.
He ald o sl Gherin, defeating Mir Kassim badly
The batila, which lasted four hours, epensd doubt-
fully, AL one Ume the Nawnab's tmops broke
through w portion of the British lins and captured
two gune, but the gallantry of the King's troops,
sud {he steadiness of our Sepoys, admirably jen-
cralled by Adams, surnd the dey. The Nawab,
savago at his defest, ihen ted Hay and Amyaltl,
whom hs had asllowsd to leave, asssisihated on
thelr way back to Caleutts. The news of these
ovents dribbled through to the prisoners in Patna
with the most sgonising eflect, One day they
were blated; the mext depressed Tho news of the
murdsr, howover, was confirmed on August 11 by
Bermet and Thompson, who ware taker to Pattis
by the Nawab himsell. They told him Amyatt and
Ensign Coopar had been killed at Muradabnd

“They had embarked all the party and sont
the horees, ete., with (ho selses Ly land, meeting
with coptrary winds. Il was ten days ere they
ronched Murndsbad, when at opce thay saw tmopa
drawn up on each slde of the rivér, with some
great guns. They hafled them and dustred Them
% eoms to, but, we mob taking notice of them,
some of them fired, on which some of our Bepoys
begsn 1o fire also, and ‘killed somebody on the
shore, on which grest guns snd vollles ware: fired,
which obliged them o put to the opposiis shore,
whare was the least fire. Mr Amyatt notwith.
standing the firs landad with s pair of pistols.
Ha took tho Nabob's perwanna in one hand and

Beld It up to and a pistol In tha other, and
Y 5 i
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advanced to the Wwp of the bank, wlere he was
sbot In the lep. and scon after cuk 1o pleces,
Ensign Cooper met the same f{ate In making re
slstanoa*

On August B ‘e Nawsh himsall was aneasy.
Anderson writes:—"The Nabob ol this plazes Iy
preparing io sel out for Mongheer in a few days.
Harewrmas are io constant motion here transport.
ing families and effects of the merchants out of
the eity, Troops from the smeller Phousdars are
ordered (o joln et Mongheer, and a bridge bulld.
ing ot Hulpolia, The sclte wre  made closs
prisoners and great commotion among the great
ut Mongheer. It |s sald our troops are
up, snd by the Iatest advices were 15 coss from
ihe lowest capital

Fullarton’s narrative records nothing from July
18 to Augusi 10, when he wiltea:—Aogust 10— "The
Waobob left Mongheer mnd the fort was lefi lo
eharge of Mamndoms Cawn'' Fullerton says:—"Ha
treated us with the greatest lenity o appesrance
and pretanded to carry on a hreaty with Mr Ellls,
bui it was all o sham, for hs neover wag in earnast
1 was sllowed 0 see (e gentlemen, on account
of Captalo Turner's baing 111, who aiterwards died
of & Box®

Auvgust 12 —Anderson  writes: —“Npinbers hers
e sending thelr faunilles over the river
Mindialy Cawn set out to-<dsy with the 200 Moguls
and some Sepoys to Mongheer. To-day two pndres,
who had n few days ego gone {rom hence to Mon
gheer, raturned oo secount of the coniusion on
the ronds  Thoy report the Nabob and afl his
troope wre gone from (hence, mod it ls belleved
ha goes to make his last effort™

Augnst 1S—Andersan  writes:—"By  certain
intelllgonee wo bave galned s complote vies
tory over Marcotl, taken nine  pleces of ecanpon,
& jewadars with 1300 horse and 1800 Sepoys and
Enropeans weont over to us; five days ago Gregan
Cawn got ihe Nabob to march down with the re
ininder of his force; but with grest reluctance;
all the prisoners are well st Mongheer; his
trensure s there yel*

August 14.—"Hear thist the Nabob marched five
days ago with about six thousand men. Comjar
Cawn has marched o joln him with one thousand
horse, And two thowsand borse fram Batiees nre on
tholr way for the same purpese.”

August 26.—On thiz day Anderson writes to his
friend Surgeon, John Davidson, from Patna as fol-
lows (Lo letter ls mow printed for ihe firt time):
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—“Dear Davidson: A3 our Ikt wust soon be deler
mined, I have in esse of the worsl, put together
all my papérs, snd woold have Yoo eollést iy
maoney, snd ramit home as soon == possible tn
ease ol my decease. He sure to sdminliter to
poor M'Dowel’s estate, or 1f Poter Gallopin sbould
have done 1L siready, pray write home and do
your endesvour 1o find oot his friends and get &
proper power to act for them, for £1000 may be of
grost serviee to them, and Ib f= at lewst & duly
divé o the memory of our frisnd. T lave sent
you & piece of u diary whick 1 kept, by which
you'lt be able to Judge of our afalr, but as (L is
very lncorraclt don't sxpese ma by (L Dogtor
Nicola will be shle to find cul M'Downi's hanyan
snd Griffiths Mr Ells's wrller, in ochse you
should want them. Dmw his pay ol X rupees per
motith Irom July 1st il you edn get it. T would
havo you In case of my desth, write Foss Westoot,
Esip, of Greenwich, and remit 0 my fathar what
muney of mine 15 in his hands. Direct Lo Tioas
Westeotl, Esg. to be left al ibe Jerusalem Opflen
Honse, Cornhill, London. Now, wmy friend. T have
1 inink, wettlagd my affalrs and done whst in
priudenee 1 ought to do for the good of my [rienda
and rolatives. 1 have tothing more to add, bt
that by the hlessing of God 1 am prepared for
ths warst that may lLappen from  the  chagein
and dlsappointment of a pruel and exasperaied
trrant, who, i he bave in lis awn power, will
domlitlezs ent tim all off a8 hs can fever expéol to
b rednstatod, He 15 at prasent governed by
tha Armenians, who, 1 sm persuaded, will nol per-
't us to be hurt, A they can help 4, for Loth
Marcott and Sumero have behaved generously to
those that fall Into tlieir hands, so that we ars
not without bhope However, I entirely rely on
thad Balng wio Knows what )& bést for os, and
am pexigned %o Hix will [ wiah you well in
bhealth of Lody, peses of mind, for It Is better o
ha good than to be grest*
“Adiou, Wm. Andersom,

“PH.—By eurrént rumour, both here and at
Mongheer, also Ly sdvipes {rom thence, Hiz Ex-
cellency |3 making & disposition to follow tha
Fegum and treasure which set out from here this
morning. He only wania it o oross then
ke follows. He purposes to Iodge it and lils people
that adhere to him In & strong fortress almosi
{nacenssibie ealled Retisguroak in the hills tn the
Budgepore country near Marmace. 1 supposs lrom
theres he imay purehsse seeders from  Sujab
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Dowls, wnd s make & posh in Lthe dry seasan.
1% is =ald he earrles off upwards of three crores
of rupees.”

Adams struck his mext hig blow on Hept 5 at
Udha-nals. Describing the batite, from bearing
of course, Anderson writes om Bepl. T:—"By »
messenger from Muradabed in nine days have {ho
sccount of sn action confiemed as follows. The
enemy made an attack on our [asclpa battery st
night. Our people quitted it, and having let sbout
4000 men land (for they erossed the mulla In boats),
they immediastaly surrounded them and eut them
ofl.*

Writing ngaln oo Sept. 10 he says:—'We have
from Miccolo some confused account of our atorm-
ing the enomy's tremches in the night, entirely
driving them thence and taking all, thelr exmp
and artillery. Socomera and Mareott are missing,
sod ihe besten troops obliged to wetreat. It is
reported 6 jemadars who wers with Comdar Cawn
are goms off. Things In the greatest confusian at
iz Exesllency's pourt™

Mir Easim was more savage than ever, and
resalved 1o have his revenge on the Englleh
prisoners ip his hands. On Bept 9 & few days
alter his defeat at Udha-nala, he announced In o
letter dated Bept. 9i—"1 will eut off the heads of
Mr Hills [the loeal Agent of ths Caloutta Couneil]
and the rest of your chiefs, and send them io you.
Exnlt not upon the success which you have gained
mersly by treachery and nlght sssaulis In two
or three placos, over n fow jemaldars sent by me.
Hy the will of God, you shall see in whai manner
ihis shall be avenged and vetallated'

Major Adams wrote In reply on Sept. 14, 1763:—
“It {s trus you have Mr Ellis and many other
gentlamen In your power. If & halr of thelr heads
is hurl, you can have mo tille to mercy from the
English, and you may depend on the wtmost fury
of thefr resentment, and ihst they will pursue
you 0 the utmost extramity of the esrth; and,
shonld ws untortunstaly not Isy hold of you, the
vengeancs of the Almighty cannot [sil overtaking
you i you perpstrate o horrld an act as the
murdeér of the pentlamen in your custody.”

Tnis threat ovoked from the President the [nl-
lowing lstter 1o Mir Kasim, dsted Sept. 18, 1763:—
w1 have recelved from Major Adams the copy of
your latter, dated tha last of Bept. Mr Amyatt
and Mr Hay were sont o you as ambassadors, &
title gacred among all notlons; yet, in violatiom
af that title, vou caused Mr Amyatt to be attacked
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and killed on his weturn, and Mr Hay you wun-
justiy Wept as & prisoner with you, You sur-
rounded snd attacked our factory st Cossimbazar,
und carried away our gentismen fromt thenee
prisoners 10 o most disgraceflul manner to Man-
gheer, elthongh they lad pe concern (o Lha war
nor vesidted your people. In like manner, in all
otker parts vou attacked the English agenta who
wate parrying on thelr trade guieidly. Some you
killed and some weve carried away prisansrs and
theld effecin wera averywhere plundered. After
thess procesdings, da you ask for what reason
Major Adams was sent with all army? You know
the laws of God and man, Aws you declarsd you
would turm the English out of the country and
bhad proceeded as far ug you can towards it It
beceme necossary for us ta take measures for our
own defsnce and for ibs care of our reputation,
Thanks be to God tlis? suceess has aftended our
army so fur, and ey will continue thely marph
Ifi the same manner as far &5 the Carnmnaess;
and, although we ars shocked at the revonge which
you ihreaten to lake upon fhe lives of our ehlsfs,
yel the bepour of our nation and the Interests
of the Company will noet be sacrificed to this
copsideration, nor the opsritions of our army be
stopped. To put prisoners of war to death 1§ an
sct which will sppeur shocking and unlawful, nat
anly to Uhristlans and Mussulmen, but ta the
tmost barbarous Papans. Buch sentiments are
pawliers to be met with but among the beasts of
the forest.”

YAler ihe battls of Udahnullah, above &
thousand of your officers and men wera prisonars
in the hands of Major Adams, who releasad them
without the least hurt or injury, Reflsct upon
this and on your own charaster, and remsmber
alss that if you had followed my sdvics this war
woild not have Wappensd.™

Meantima affalrs were golng vary badly with
the prisoners at Patne, s we =hall sea by return-
Ing to the disries.

Bepl, 15 —Fullarton reconis:—"Mr Ellls and ihe
mst of ihe gentlemen were sent from Mongheer.
Messts Ellls ahd Oreentree were v palankins;
Lushingion, Smith, Lieut. Bowen, and Ensign
M'Leod, snd ome ather gentleman, who I don't
romember, were on horapback, The Test were in
ltona, same in dooleys and some in harearrys, and
after thelr arrival af Pathn  were confined in
Hadguhamalt's house*

fept. M.—Anderson wrlltes: —"This plnee is quite
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till of e deleat of Hilz Exeellmey's troops and
ihe consequence of It people are golng off Aally."

sepl. 10.—Andersen writes: —“We fjave not had
these mne days any allowatiew from the Nabob
wn aceaunt of the conluslon here, (he eomiequenes
of tha lale defsat of Hls Excellency's troope To-
day we divided what cash remalned In onr posses
slon, which dame to 30 rujees eacll, and Lave sent
the greatest part of the efects of olliers which
wers with ns to the Duteh faciory. This pre-
raution, we have iaken lest we be ordered o
march up cosntry wity Hiy Eseelleney.”

Sept  18-Anderson wriles:—""Hix Exeelloney's
people are golnig off in. trogpe.  Mirza Caleel ami
Mindialy Cawn are bath atrived here, having fled
from the lute actlon. Our gentlemey are op thelr
way from Mongheer to ihis plaes, and tf is thought
His Excelleney intends pushing through the hills
to Bengal in order to draw our trosps dowi, pro-
Tong time, of 16 gain some assistance. which be
mosy be In expectation of fom alove, To-day sant
my superfuous clothes to the Duteh lactory, We
also pectivid nine dayy’ allowsnee out of leven
dus to us. Our peons here seem o grest agltation,
and in short the whole eity seems resdy (o take
wing.*

Sepr. 19 —Fullarton was sant from Monghaer to
Patoa, and confined slome ino the kilia.

Rept. M—Anderson writes: —“This evening besrd
that 10 Europsamtis &t Dar had Daoen Usd and
{hrown foto the river, so thst from this we may
guess what we are (o axpect.”

Septl M.—-Anderson  writes: —"The Nabob about
three weeks ngo propossd eulting all the prisoners
off, but was prevemted by Soimbre, the Armnhians,
st seven 0! his Jemadars. Gregag Cawn had 15
horses, wiiich arrived Nere yedterdny, but Lhe
gates were shuf, and thoy not permitted to enter:
As things go towarde & erisls, our situatlon must
create us moch kboxdety, It ts sald be will he at
Ramnassers the day slier wanorrow, s0 thetl our
fates must o determined in two or thies days at
furfhest*

Oet. L—andemson writesc="Mahmel Emy Cawn
with tha selts and some of the prisonsrs still
Temain withont the esst gate. Twelve Eum=ans
who eams over with Dim srrived in the elty o

Ogt. 8=Ton Eurapesnis arrived &1 Patrs,

Oct. S~Muny of the guard af Paina left the
prisotiers. Tho price of rioe rose

Oat. 4,—The Nabob wirived At  Ramnaradn's
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gardens, angd was due o enter Patna next day.
The people busied themsslves with mounting guns
on the bastlons.

Mir Kasim left to himsell might hase paused,
lor, If we sre to belsve Smith, it wis “Bombre*
who put him up te the massacre, The Nawab,
himeell, *“staitad wilh horror at the dlabolleal
Iden of treacherously murdaring the English n
cold blood and refuged,”” Bmith goss an to declars
that what was teo villaltous for ike natives was
“pol too atroclous for (he sanguinary temper of
sSouthre,” who undertooll "the eriminal eommisslon
with ardour and alocrity "

Only one witngss Nved to tell the tale, namaly,
Fallartow. This part of Wi story (& betier known
than the other, having been printed in 1765, in
"Originnl Papers relative to the Disturbances 'n
Bangnl, 17581769" (1L 208-300). He pays,—

Oot.  G.~"Mr Eilis with the rest of the géntle-
men were inhumansiy butchered by Bhumros,
who ¢ame that evening to the place w!th iwo
mompanies of Sepoys (ke had the day Dbafore sent
for all the knives and forks of the gentleman).
He surrcunded the house wiile hlg  poople, and
went Into & Litle ooter sqtaie, add sent for
Messts Klllx, Hay, and Lushingtorn. And with Miem
oama slx other gentleman, who were all terribly
mangled and eut o pleces, and  ihalr hodles
thrown [nto & well In the square, and {4 fAlled up.
Then the Sapoys were sont into the large square,
anid fired on the genllemen ihere, and, rushing
apon them, eut them into jdeces in the most
Inlwman  manner; and they were thmown into
another well, which was lkewlga flled up™

Dot B—Andefson taking np the tale on il
date writes: —"Heard (his moming thut Mr Ells
und &7 gantlemsn ware cut off Iast night, so that
doubtless our fate must be sealed in 24 hoors,
for which God prepare us all"”

Hero Anderson's diary ends. On ilie sama day
e wrote to his friend, Surgeon Davidson, as
follows:=""Dear Davidson —Sinee my last, His Ex-
cellency has been compleiely defesied, and In
consequences obliged to retrest to Jafir Cawn's
gardens; and  purposss ecoming  infe  the
city today. Sumere with ths Bezpoys arrived
here last night, and I sappose to effect his wicked
designs, lor last nlght Mr Eilis and 48 gentlemen
were murdored, and as almost an equal number
remains, of soldiers and us, I expect my fate this
night  Dear Davidson, ihis iz no sorprise to me,
for I heve all along expected b, I must, iherse
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fore, ms & dylng wan, request you to ecliect and
remil, home my foriung sz soon as possibie, and
weita home & comforilng lotter to my father and
mothier. Lel thoms know I die Dhravely as a
Chrtatian might, for T fear not him who can kill
the body and notling mors, but relolee In hapes
of & future existonce through the merits of my
Baylour. Oh, Davidson, bé not over anxlous for
w fortune; let medioerity satisfy you, and go hotis
and comfort your friends and mine, Endeavour
to rocover Mr Elle's money I possible, but I
bellave the 14000 rupess with Hancock ls safe,
which will e n help for my poor fricnds. Yau
tinve ol instructions in my other papers. Yon
may give Nicold If Be comes to youl 200 tupees,
and I you ean, provide for him, for he ls a good
boy. Now, dear friend, I {ake my leave of you,
hoping that that friendstiip will etill subsist, for
why may thars not be the same [riendship in a
luture state; friendship, founded on virtue,
must subsist for ever. Fare you well, and wmay
God give you sntlgfactlon tn Hle and joy in desth.
=Yours, William Anderson.”
Oct. 7.—That is the lazt we hear from Anderson.
Ths story s continued by Fullarton, who wrote
pi Oel. 71 —="The Nabob sent for ma and told me
to get myself in readiness to go io Caleutta, for
that He had been unlueky in the war whicl,
he asserted with gréal warmth, had not been of
his soeking, mor had he hbeen the sgeTessor;
reyroaching the English with want of fidelity and
breach of treaty. But, he sald, be had still hopes
of &6 mecommodation, He asked me what I thought
of . I told bim I mede no doubt of (& When
some of his peopls then preseni mentioned tha
affalr of Mr Amyati's desth, be declsred that he
had never given any orders of killlng Mr Amyatt;
and after recelving advices of Mr Elllx's having
attacked Patne, he had ordersd all his servanis
to take and lmprison all the English in the pro-
vinces wlerever they counid find them. He iike-
wise added, that if a tresty was not set afool he
would Dbring the King, the Marathas, and the
Abdallahs against us, and so ruin our trade, ate.
Ho bad finished his letiers and ordered boats and
& guard to eonduct me, when, upon the adyice of
samo of his people, e stopped me and £aid there
was Do ocosplon for me (o go, After his sending
for me at first, he ocdéred the Bejoys in whose
charge 1 was & go to thelr quariers, iwo Mogils
and twolve Hirearahs to Sttend me, but to Tet me
go about the clty where I pleased. 1 then applied
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fox Ilberly to stay ot the Dutel [aotory; wiiloek
war granted.

“1 applied to Mindly Cawn for his interest op
behalf of the gentlemen in the Challatoon, who
ward goven In number, and were not killed il
Oet. 11, but, when he wes petitioned about them,
I gave no anxwer, but still eent orders to Shum-
ro0 b eub them off. T Ukewlse applied to Alf
Ihrahlm Cawn o Intercedo for them, bui he gave
lilm mo snswer”

All this tlmie Adame was pressing on, aod omn
Get, 11 he eaptured Monghyr, Fullarton, contin-
ing lWis narmative, writes; —

Oct. 14.—"The 1Mk, on the npproach of our
army, Cosslm Aly decamped with higtroops Lo great
confusion, and mnrched ay Iar as Fulwary, fve
coss to the westward ol the city, The Hircarahs
that were with me, having no orders about me,
I gave them some monsy, which made them prethy

Oct, BSth=""Altey glving monky ko 8 Jemiadar
thint lind the guard 1o the westward of s Dutch
taotory by the rlverside, I set out in a small
pulvar, and got safe (o the boats, under the com-
wend of Captsln Woedderburn, that were lying
opposlte to the elty on tho other pide of the river;
and at 11 o'eloek that night arrived al the army
noder the comimzil of Majer Adams, lping st
dukiy,' .

Major Adamg' neconnt of the affalr, dated Patns
Oel 18, 1768, ws quoted in the “Bombay Ssate
Papors'! iHome Berles, vol, 1L, p. 128), adda further
particulars —="The accounta which I have com-
munleated Lo the President relstive to the fate of
our gentlomen at Putnn are now confirmed by the
arrival of geveral of thetr servants In eamp. One
Aspock, Consutnmah to Mr Allright, who glves the
ncat distinet account, T Intend Lo send down to
Calouttn for your sxaminstion. He says that
twelve days ago at seven o'clock in the evening,
onr gontlemon Laving drank tea, wers scquainted
by Mr Ellia's servant that Someroo was Arrived
with some Sepoye; on which Mr Ellls tmmedintely
ordered & chalr to be bBrought for him; but in-
stead of going Lo the genmtlemen, he sent away the
Mogul who had the charge of thom, and went inio
the cook-ream and gave orders to the servants,
who ware geiting supper ready, to be gone, He
then sent for Mesera Ellls and Lushington, who,
bolng acquainted he had private bosiness wiih
them, immedistely went to him and waore insgtantly
out down. Aftorwards Mesirs Hay, Lyon, sad
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Jonge were sent for and dispatched inp the same
manner, as were llkewlzsea Messrs Uhambers,
Amphlatt, and Galston, who were sent for with
My Bmith, but he receiving a cut on the shonlder
ezoaped Into the room snd acguainting the rest of
the gentlemen, they defended themselves with
totiles and plates (their knlves and forks being
taken lrom lhem after dinnerj, and obliged the
Sapoys to metire; who Immediately loaded their
pigees and shot them; 25 were In irons The
above-mentioned gentlemen with others, amounting
fo 25 more; were mot In irans, He adds that
Captaln Wilson, Ensign Mackdy, Dr Campbell, and
fve or six more were murdered at Chalisatoon,
whaere they were confined with Dr Fallarton, who
was the oply gentleman that was bob pul lo death,
bt that all the English soldlers were yet allve.
Thiz ‘horrid massaore was perpetrated the nighe
that Cosslin All Cawn vecelved the Fresldent's
&nd my letter

“The hbodies of oor gentlemen were most of
them thrown In & well In the spmpound of the
bonug they were eonfined in

"“They llkewise say that |mmediately on the
receipt of the news of Udbae-nala helng stormed,
Cassim Alli Cawn ordered all the English to be
safit oul on the river and sonk theére, but was
prevented by Coje Gregore, who, had he Uwed,
ey  say, would have yprevented this horrld
affair."

A similsr sccount is glven by Seid-gholam-
Hoeeeln-khan, who wrole s history of Indla in
Pargian (li. 505-8). He says:—"Somro, the Euro-
pean, that stony-hearted man, ropalred to the
house, then called Hadjlahmed's, where those I
{ated people ware confined, and which, having
tecome the bnrying ground of the English sines
that day, bas had its name alieved aceordingly;
sind without the least hesitatlon or the least re-
morss e ordered all these unavmed men to be
killed with musket balls. It Is reported that In
sueh o moment of distress and persecutlon those
unfortumnate men wllhout losing conrage marahed
ap to thelr murdérers and with empty batlles
and slones and brickbats fought them to tha Iast
man, antll thoy were all killad. Tt appears that
twa or three days before this eveni they had
contrived by the mieans of fthelr servaols o pro-
cnre abroad & number of muskets equal to thelr
nomber with smmunition sufficient for thelr pur-
pose. But they did not eame to hand, for had
they sueceeded in thiz sttempt they were resolved
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to make thelr wscape Ly main foree, snd, i ool to
kill so many wen in thelr own defence s should
wvongo thelr death and do  honour to their
mamory "

The wetual number of men massaerad st Paina
wae 48, made up of 24 io the srmy, 10 Covenanted
worvants, pnd nine merohants, Beeldes these, 15
men logt thelr llves In the poollmlnary actlong; —

Dittle o Choprl w. a0 = s B

Al Monghyr .. 3 1 A % 2
At Murmdaladd bl it e S
Assault on Paths .. e o o A
Al Rungpore .. e we B

Tha vietims ni Poaina Itnelt wore &3 follows
(s pecorded In Talboys Wheeler's "Harly Records
of Beitlsh India,™ pp. S18-528)1— '

COVENANTED v

MULITARY. CERyAyps,  (BRCHANTS
Burgemi Anderson. Ampliete. Allbright.
Ensign Armstrong Chambers  Campbell
Eusign Wewitl, senr. Callings. Falllat.
Ecslgn Rlewiil, junr. Croke, Hardiing.
Liout. Dowen Elils. Harris.
Emslgn Crawford, Estom. Howikt,
Surgenst Cronk. Gulston. Johnstane.
Lieul Gordon. Hay. Plalza
Lirut. Greentree. Howik Weazt.
Lieut. Hamllton Hutchinson.
Liemt. Hollzuid Laks,
Lisut. Hope Lushington.
Capt Joecker, Lyon.
Lieul. Jones. Dakes,
Cupt, John Kineh. Roid.
Lieut. M'Kle, Fmith.
Lieat M'Leod.
Ligut. Parry,

Lieut. Richard Ferry
Lisut. Roaclc

Cajpit. Summers.
Licut. Spunned.
Lieut. Stewart

Capt Tabby,

Capt. Wilson,

The massacre was Mir Kneslm's last coup. I
fetober  Major  Adams parehed on Patus  and
tha towi fell to lils arms on Npv. 6 With its fall,
Mobammedan power in Bengal was broken. Mir
Kassim, for whose arrest  the English offered
£10,000, fled to Oudh, bul his respite was brief,
for just m year later, Oct. 23, 1764, Sir lector
Munre, himsell an old Gordon Highlander, de-
tested the Nawab of Oudhb, though he had bul 857

AR

i
5%

%?ARJ
o



i2

Eoropeans and 8215 Sepoys (o put againet the
Nawab's 50,000,

If Mlr Eassim's dream was over, Bambre's Lad
oot yet reached its zenith, though the Britiah
offerad 24000 for his head. He sel oul to seek his
fortune [n the disfurbed districts south of the
Jumns, finally taking service among the Bhuripur
Jats. In 1772 he raised two batiallons, gradusily
sugmented to four. Mr Eeene givea a curious
accoutit of this stranga ammy:—

“His following . . . comprised some low Euro-
peans whom he had attracied from emong the
tramps of the time, with some guns and & few
companies of men from the debriz of Kasim's
army., The total strength was then estimated at
four battalions of fook, six field pleces, chiefly
manned by Europeans, and s small corps of native
cavalry. Those who are acqoainted with the
modern Indisn losfer can best imagine the sort
of rufflans that formed the gunners and officers of
this force. Under fire » sort of stalld discipline
pravalled; In samp, drunkenness and disobedience
ruled supreme. The tackles of the brigade were
simple; paying no attentlon to the grand disposi
tlon of the force with which they might ba serving.
they would enter the field from whitever quarier
they deemed sunitable; fire thelr guns with all
posgible precision as long as their side held Iia
groand; i that side gave war they would retire
iheir guns under a screen of |ofantry fire, and in
case of n tolal defeat, pass over bodily Into the
sarvica of tha victors."

In 1774 Sombre got & good chance of changing
polcurs. The Emperor of Delhi sent s minigter
10 coerce the Jats, who had taken possession of
Agra  The Jats wers beaten, and Sombre's brigade
went over mext day to the conqheror. The rain.
lorcement was weleomed. The hrigade was laken
into the Emparor of Delhi's service, & conslderable
fiel near Dalhl balng asaigneéd for ii= support,
whila Sombre was appolnted to the charge of Agrs,
where he died In August, 1778, *‘Ho was boried
In & fine tomb In the Cathalle cemeiery of the
Cirll Lines st Agra; snd s gtfll more sobatantial
mopument remains in the shapé of a church, sinee
converted Into & printing office connectsd with
thé convent"—where a tablet still records= the
death of “"Dominus Walter Rheinbard"” Mr Keene
says his actoal tomb bears ‘& Portuguese [nacrip-
than.

Sombre married & Muslem wile, by whom he
had & zon. She went mad, however, and Sombre
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knpt house, as Mr Pinero euphomistieally jputs it
with & slave gir! whom he had bought st Delhil
Ti's lady, who iz believed to have been of Arab
orlgin, musi have been quite as clever as Bombre,
for sha got his fief; was sdmitted with her step-
#1 Inte the Catbolle Church, 1781; and settled
with her brigade at Bardbana, a village noar
Meerut, whers she was knowp till her death In
1838 as the Begum. Bhe marrled In 1782 & French
offfieer named Levassoult, whom sha put st the
head of her brigade, whieh grew to five battalions,
k ragiment of Moghul horse, snd 40 pleces of
artillery. A portealt and an (ntaresting acoount
of her will be found in Mr Keene's book. Ehe
keps grest style on European lines, and scquired
A hugs fortume, which she left to her step-great
grandson, David Ochterlony Dyce-Sombra, Alihough
at har death her fefs were confisoated and her
brigade disbandad, her belr got £20,000 a year.
Mr EKoeeno gives the descent of DyceBombre in
tabular form:—

Walter Heinhards, . A Mo
General Sombre. l who survived him.
Aloysins Reflphardt _—  Mlle, Lafovre

Annae Lhﬂnrdl.. - George Dyow,
alias Sombre. Agent to the Bardhana
' Estates.

David Ochterlony -
Dyco-Bombro, Hon. M, A Jorvis
barn 1808; 4. sp, LBSL .

Dyes-Bombre had & curfons career, and s sad
end, which you will find detatled by Mr Hoase in
the “Detionary of National Blography,” For a
tme he was Libarsl M.P. for Sudbury. He became
Insane (though he wolubly repudisted the sugpes-
tion In & bizg book), snd disd at Daviea Strest,
Berkoley Squars, London, July 1, 1881, being buried
ol Kensal Green. After his death his aistors,
Buaroness Solari, And Mrs (Colonel) Trodp disputed
his wil, The Heols (M mot Absrdsanshire) destin-
atlon of the murderer of Patua's lssoe i3 intersat-
1:.. in view of the Heolsmen ha massaered at

'atna.
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Historians have found much difeully in dls
dovorlng “Sombre's” origin. But they lhave msde
& fnlr stow of it Sgrely there must
b floating abont  somewhers in Elgin
or Aberdesnshire, where John Gordon's (presum-
able) father died, some letters which wpuld throw
more light on the earesr of Sombra's viellm st
Patna. As iU (s, almost the only personal glimpse
we pget of the liewtenmnt s the sk of his
effccts, which letchod 1734 current Ttupees ot
the “pobllek outery®™ a1 Caloutia on January 5,
1784, They eonulsted of (“Inventoriss al Mayor's
Court,” ‘1785; Records Departmont, Indis Office):—

Stockings, § palrs new and 9 pairs old ... 178
2 Coar:e Eurapean shoets, 15 napkins, snd 2

B L T R TR ey
L Piece Madres chintz and 1 pallampore ... 1242
I Palr gueras and 2 remmants of gllndlls ... 54
2 Bmall ZIRSEEE  coeeeorimscssssoisisnatrin ionpsppieiasss LR
A lob of sundry odd LHIngs cuciomeeiisisies &

3 Coats, 2 walstoonis, and 3 palrs ol Lreeches 15
A Temnant of old broeade nnd 2 o black sl 712

3 Bracelets eof in gold, 1 pair stone sleeve
buttons, and & stote Seal . ooiecominmmes L

A mahogany chast ol dEAWESS i, T1
A Chinm lvory AOWer DOX .eciemscissiommns T
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